I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The Circuit Court erred when it ruled that the jury instruction regarding 

nuisance was confusing; the instruction was an accurate and clear statement of the law. 

2. The Circuit Court erred when it granted Parrotta's Motion for a New Trial, 

when counsel for Parrotta admitted, on the record, that Parrotta did not object to the 

jury instruction on nuisance or Parrotta's appearance on the nuisance portion of the 

verdict slip as a matter of strategy. This constitutes invited error. 

3. The Circuit Court erred when it allowed Parrotta to raise an objection to 

the verdict form and jury instruction in a post-trial motion when Parrotta had failed to 

object at the time of trial and before the jury was dismissed. 

4. The Circuit Court erred when it granted a new trial because to the extent 

there was error in the nuisance language in the jury instructions, it was at most 

harmless error. 

5. The Circuit Court erred in refusing to allow the testimony of Richard Stone 

of Stone Paving Co. as a lay witness regarding the cost to repair the access road. 

6. The Circuit Court erred in refusing to allow the testimony of Lonnie R. 

Hilling, Plaintiffs sole owner, as a fact witness regarding the damage to the road and the 

repairs necessary to fix it. 

7. The Circuit Court erred when, over six months after the trial, it relied on 

its own recollection of testimony in making its ruling, and that recollection was wrong. 
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II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


Appellant, Hilling Enterprises, LLC ("Hilling" or "Petitioner") owns property 

("Hilling Property") in Morgantown, West Virginia, abutting the property of a car 

dealership owned by Midtown Motors, Inc. ("Midtown"). The Hilling Property is at the 

bottom of a hill, with the Midtown property situated at the top of the hill. (A.R. 572

577)1. As part of a new townhouse development, Hilling entered into an easement 

agreement with Midtown ("Easement Agreement") covering access into the Hilling 

Property and thereafter constructed a road and began construction of a townhouse 

development ("Villas at the Glen") on the Hilling Property. (A.R. 572, 576, 580). 

After Hilling constructed the road and built and sold some of the townhouses in 

the development, Midtown, by its owner Randy Buzzo ("Buzzo") hired and directed 

Parrotta Paving Co., Inc. ("Parrotta") to expand Midtown's parking lot. Parrotta 

undertook this work by dumping massive quantities of soil, construction materials, 

rocks, mud and other materials at the top of the hillside and pushing the material over 

the hill towards the Hilling Property. (A.R.735). After months of this activity, the 

dumped material began to slide, encroaching on the Hilling Property. As the fill 

matedal slid down the hill, it caused damage to the access road built by Hilling, caused 

flooding on the road, blocked a culvert under the road, and covered a parcel of land 

where Hilling was planning to build more townhouses, rendering the property unusable. 

(A.R. 659-660, 670, 714-715, 791-769). The unsightly conditions, road flooding and 

encroachment of fill material on the access road caused by the slide also harmed the 

sales of the townhouse units. (A.R. 669). 

1 References to the Appendix Record are set forth as "A.R. _." 
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Hilling filed suit against Midtown, Buzzo and Parrotta2 alleging nuisance and 

negligence against all three defendants, and breach of the Easement Agreement against 

Midtown. Midtown and Buzzo filed counterclaims against Hilling for breach of the 

Easement Agreement, tortious interference with prospective contract and defamation. 

Trial began on January 20, 2016. On February 8, 2016, the jury returned a 

verdict in favor of Hilling on all counts (including the counterclaims), and awarded a 

total of $1,050,000 in damage. On June 7, 2016, four months after the jury returned the 

verdict, the Circuit Court entered its Judgment Order. CA.R.17-19). Based on the 

verdict, the Circuit Court entered judgment in favor of Hilling and against Midtown, 

Buzzo and Parrotta, jointly and severally, in the amount of $845,000, plus court costs, 

on the nuisance and negligence claims, and $105,000, plus court costs, against Midtown 

on the breach of right of way/easement claim. CA.R. 17-19). 3 

All parties filed timely post-trial motions. Parrotta filed a Renewed Motion for 

Judgment as a Matter of Law, or, in the Alternative, Motion for New Trial and/or 

Motion for Remittur, making many of the same arguments that it had unsuccessfully 

made in pre-trial motions. Parrotta also made a new argument: that the jury could not 

have found Parrotta liable for nuisance based upon the jury instructions because 

Parrotta was not the property owner. CA.R. 41-42). 

Prior to filing post-trial motions, Parrotta did not object to any part of the jury 

instructions. In fact, Parrotta's counsel stated during oral argument on the post-trial 

motions that Parrotta did not object to the jury instructions or verdict slip intentionally 

and for strategic reasons. CA.R. 257-258, 267-269). 

Hilling had also sued Darwin Johnson. Those claims were settled on the first day of trial. 
:3 The judgment was reduced by the amount paid by Darwin Johnson to settle the claims against 
him. 

3 
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The jury instruction at the heart of Parrotta's Motion for a New Trial addresses 

the definition of nuisance, and actually came from proposed jury instructions submitted 

by Parrotta itself: 

Nuisance is not the same as negligence. The term "nuisance" is incapable 
of an exact and exhaustive definition which will fill all cases, because the 
controlling facts are seldom alike, and each case stands on its own footing. 
The term "nuisance" is generally applied to the class of wrongs which 
arises from the unreasonable, unwarrantable, or unlawful use by a person 
of his own property and produces such material annoyance, 
inconvenience, discomfort or hurt that the law will presume a consequent 
damage. Stated another way, nuisance is the unreasonable, unusual, or 
unnatural use of one's property so that it substantially impairs the right of 
another to peacefully enjoy his or her property. 

CA.R. 359-360). 

Parrotta claims that under these jury instructions, the jury could not have 

possibly found Parrotta liable for nuisance, as this instruction says that nuisance can 

only be found against a property owner. CA.R. 41-42,254-257). It is undisputed that 

Parrotta did not own the property where the nuisance was created. It is also undisputed 

that Parrotta performed the work on the property that caused the slide, and did so as the 

agent/contractor of Midtown, the owner of the property. Parrotta argued that since the 

jury found against it on the nuisance charge, the jury must have disregarded the jury 

instructions. CA.R. 41-42). Hilling opposed this argument, as the instruction was clear 

and contained absolutely no language limiting liability for nuisance strictly to property 

owners. CAR. 228-229). Indeed, West Virginia law does not limit liability for nuisance 

to property owners. (A.R.229). 

Hilling also filed a post-trial motion, arguing: (a) that the court erred in not 

allowing Hilling to present the testimony and proposal of Richard Stone of Stone 

Paving, Inc. regarding the cost to repair the road, and (b) that the court also erred in not 
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allowing Lonnie R. Hilling, Hilling's owner, to testify regarding the damage to the road 

and the necessary repairs. (A.R. 495-496). 

Oral argument on post-trial motions took place on August 25, 2016. At the 

argument, the Trial Judge verbally stated her intent to grant a new trial, citing as 

grounds her conclusion that the jury instructions on the nuisance count were confusing. 

(A.R. 273-275). Six months later on February 24, 2017, and more than a year after the 

jury verdict, the Circuit Court issued its written Order Granting Motion for New Trial. 

(A.R. 1-16). The Circuit Court granted Parrotta's Motion for a New Trial on the basis 

that the jury instruction on nuisance constituted "significant error" requiring a retrial on 

all issues. (A.R. 1-2). 

Hilling files this appeal seeking the following relief: 

(1) 	 reversal of the February 24,2017 Order of Judge Susan B. Tucker granting 
Parrotta's motion for a new trial; 

(2) 	 reversal of Judge Tucker's ruling during the trial that prevented Hilling 
from presenting testimony from Richard Stone; 

(3) 	 reversal of Judge Tucker's ruling during the trial that prevented Lonnie 
Hilling from giving testimony regarding the repairs to the road, including 
the costs associated with same; and 

(4) 	 remand solely for the purpose of conducting a trial limited to the issue of 
the amount of damages to which Hilling is entitled for the damage to the 
road. 

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

West Virginia law does not require that only a property owner can be found liable 

for negligence. The Circuit Court improperly awarded a new trial when the jury 

instruction at issue was a clear and accurate statement of the law. The Circuit Court 

should not have allowed the party that invited the error, Parrotta, to raise the objection 
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in its post-trial motion. Parrotta was the party that introduced the error into the record, 

and despite many opportunities to do so, had never previously objected. 

The Circuit Court also erred when it refused to allow Richard Stone to testify 

regarding the cost of repairs that Plaintiffs expert, Karen Krabill, had already testified 

were necessary. This refusal was based on the Circuit Court's incorrect recollection of 

Ms. Krabill's testimony. The Circuit Court also should have allowed Plaintiffs sole 

owner, Lonnie Hilling, to testify regarding the damage to the road and the repairs 

necessary to correct that damage. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Appellate believes that oral argument pursuant to Rule 19 is warranted and the 

matter is appropriate for memorandum decision. 

v. ARGUMENT 

A. 	 The Circuit Court erred when it ruled that the jury instruction 
regarding nuisance was confusing; the instruction was a clear 
statement ofthe law. 

The Circuit Court's Order Granting Motion for New Trial stated: " .. .it is plain that 

the Court's nuisance instructions are, at best, misleading, and at worst, a misstatement 

of the law." CA.R. 12). However, the jury instruction language challenged by Parrotta's 

post-trial motion leads with an instruction that "The term 'nuisance' is generally 

applied... "(emphasis added). Parrotta's argument is that the instruction was wrong 

because it required the jury to only find a party liable for nuisance if that party was the 

owner ofthe offending property. (A.R.41-42). In fact, the instruction does not so state. 

The instruction merely recites, correctly, that nuisance actions "generally" arise where 

the owner of a property engages in conduct on his/her property that violates the rights 

of another person, including an adjoining landowner. There is nothing in the 
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instruction that limits the jury to finding that Parrotta could be liable for nuisance only 

if it was the owner of the property in question. Indeed, such an instruction would have 

been error. 

1. 	 West Virginia law does not limit liability for nuisance 
to property owners. 

Parrotta's motion offered no legal authority showing that it is the law of West 

Virginia to limit a cause of action for nuisance to property owners. (A.R.41-42). That 

is because there is no such law. 

The law in West Virginia is clear: it is "well established that all persons who join 

or participate in the creation or maintenance of a nuisance are liable jointly and 

severally for the wrong and injury done thereby." West v. Nat'l Mines Corp., 168 W.Va. 

578,589,285 S.E.2d 670,678 (W.Va. 1981) citing 58 Am. Jur. 2d, Nuisances § 56 

(1971). "A nuisance is anything which annoys or disturbs the free use of one's property, 

or which renders its ordinary use or physical occupation uncomfortable. A nuisance is 

anything that interferes with the rights of a citizen, either in person, property, the 

enjoyment of his property, or his comfort. A condition is a nuisance when it clearly 

appears that enjoyment of the property is materially lessened, and physical comfort of 

persons in their homes is materially interfered with thereby." Mahoney v. Walter, 157 

W.Va. 882, 889, 205 S.E.2d 692, 697 (W.Va. 1974)· 

Nothing in these cases, or in any other case cited by Parrotta, supports the notion 

that only property owners can be liable for nuisance arising out of their use of their land. 

Importantly, Parrotta's motion for a new trial did not argue that there was no evidence 

that Parrotta had created a nuisance. Indeed, such an argument would be in direct 

contradiction to all of the evidence. Instead, Parrotta advances the completely 
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unsupported argument that it could not be legally liable for the nuisance because it is 

not the property owner. The law is clear; Parrotta is jointly and severally liable for the 

nuisance along with the other Defendants that the jury found liable for the nuisance. 

Even if ownership of the land was a condition of the nuisance claim, Parrotta could still 

be liable as a joint tortfeasor. 

It is noteworthy that despite the parties having engaged in extensive motions 

practice in this matter, at no point prior to its post-trial motion did Parrotta raise the 

argument that it could not be liable for nuisance. The decision not to raise that 

argument is not surprising, as neither the law nor the undisputed facts support such an 

argument. 

And so, Parrotta's argument is distilled to the claim that the statement, "[t]he 

term 'nuisance' is generally applied ... ", somehow confused the jury. Clearly, the jury 

was not confused, nor could it have been confused by that instruction. The jury's verdict 

was fully in accord with the instruction and with the law. 

It is therefore respectfully submitted that the Circuit Court committed error when 

it found that the language of the jury instruction was misleading or a misstatement of 

the law. 

B. 	 The Circuit Court erred when it granted Parrotta's Motion for aNew 
Trial, when counsel for Parrotta admitted, on the record, that 
Parrotta did not object to the jury instruction on nuisance or 
Parrotta's appearance on the nuisance portion of the verdict slip as a 
matter of strategy. This constitutes invited error. 

The law in West Virginia is clear: a party cannot induce an error and then later 

seek to benefit from that error. Yet, that is exactly what happened here. Parrotta seeks 

to benefit from the language of the jury instruction that it invited into the proceedings 

by way of Defendants' Joint Proposed Jury Instructions and Defendants' Proposed 
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Verdict Slip. (A.R. 359-360, 473-476). Parrotta should be further barred from profiting 

from the error that it invited, as Parrotta admitted during oral argument that it did so 

knowingly and as a matter of trial strategy. (A.R. 257-258, 267-269). 

"As a general rule, '[a] judgment will not be reversed for any error in the record 

introduced by or invited by the party seeking reversal.' SyI. Pt. 21, State v. Riley, 151 

W.Va. 364,151 S.E.2d 308 (1966), SyI. Pt. 4, State v. Johnson, 197 W.Va. 575,476 

S.E.2d 522 (1996)." Pullin v. State, 216 W.Va. 231, 605 S.E.2d 803 (W.Va. 2004). The 

West Virginia Supreme Court has consistently looked askance at a party's attempt to 

profit from invited error: 

"Invited error" is a cardinal rule of appellate review applied to a wide 
range of conduct. It is a branch of the doctrine of waiver which prevents a 
party from inducing an inappropriate or erroneous response and then 
later seeking to profit from that error. The idea of invited error is not to 
make the evidence admissible but to protect principles underlying notions 
ofjudicial economy and integrity by allocating appropriate responsibility 
for the inducement of error. Having induced an error, a party in a normal 
case may not at a later stage of the trial use the error to set aside its 
immediate and adverse consequences. State v. Crabtree, 198 W.Va. 620, 
627,482 S.E.2d 605, 62 (1996). 

Hopkins v. DC Chapman Ventures, Inc., 228 W.Va. 213, 719 S.E.2d 381 (W.Va. 

2011)(internal citations omitted). 

1. Parrotta invited the very language that it now challenges. 

Defendants, including Parrotta, submitted Joint Proposed Jury Instructions, 

which included the exact language on nuisance that Parrotta subsequently challenged in 

post-trial motions. (A.R. 359-360). It is important to note that Parrotta: (a) never 

sought to dismiss the nuisance count against it in a motion to dismiss or summary 

judgment motion; (b) submitted a proposed verdict slip listing itself on the nuisance 

count; (c) never objected to appearing on the verdict slip for nuisance; and (d) never 
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objected to or tried to change the language that it included in its proposed Jury 

Instruction No. 21, which was subsequently adopted by the court and read to the jury. 

CA.R. 267-268,359-360,473-476, 1508-1509)· 

2. 	 Parrotta admitted that it was a conscious and strategic 
decision to include the language that it now challenges. 

Remarkably, Parrotta's counsel, Jennifer Tampoya, Esq., admitted on the record, 

during oral argument on the post-trial motions on August 26, 2016, that Parrotta had 

been fully aware of the language in the jury instructions and wanted the jury to be given 

those instructions: 

THE COURT: And you don't see any problem with Parrotta being on 
the verdict form with regard to nuisance? 

MS. TAMPOYA: No, Your Honor, I don't see any problem with that. 
We left it in the jury's hands to listen to the jury 
instructions. I would have preferred Parrotta not be 
on the jury form for any of it. I didn't think that any 
of it was Parrotta's fault, but, you know, the jury is 
supposed to listen to the jury instructions and apply 
the law to the facts that they have heard that are in 
evidence .... And, Your Honor, we did not argue 
that prior to the jury charge being read to the 
jury and the jury taking it for a specific reason, 
and that was that we wanted the jury to be 
given that instruction. 

THE COURT: Interesting. 

THE COURT: 	 I'm going to ask you to explain it again, Ms. Tampoya, 
just like you did before - - I'm not asking you to 
change anything - - why it did not trouble you to have 
section eight of the verdict form the question to the 
jury, do you find by a preponderance of the evidence 
that defendant Parrotta Paving created a nuisance 
which proximately caused damages to plaintiff Hilling 
Enterprises? Do you remember I asked you that 
about ten minutes ago? 
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MS. TAMPOYA: We were confident that Parrotta, under the governing 
law, the jury instructions read to the jury would not be 
found liable for nuisance. There wasn't any argument 
for us to make at that point that Parrotta should not 
be on the verdict form so it wouldn't have been 
appropriate for us to do that. 

THE COURT: I think what you said was, I'm paraphrasing, that 
given the strategy of the agreed upon instructions, it 
would have negatively impacted that strategy not to 
put number eight in. I think that's what you said, but 
I don't know that you know you said that. 

MS. TAMPOYA: I don't actually know that I said that. I do know that I 
said there was a good reason why we did not move for 
judgment, as a matter of law, on the nuisance issue or 
raised the issue or asked to not be on the verdict form 
in advance. 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MSTAMPOYA: We wanted the jury instructions, given the 
instructions that counsel agreed upon, all parties 
agreed that that was the law governing the case. IT 
would not have been in Parrotta's interest for us to 
argue any otherwise. 

CA.R. 257-258, 267-268). 

Despite the fact that Parrotta acknowledges that it wanted the jury instructions 

and verdict slip to be given to the jury in exactly the form they were, it now seeks a new 

trial on the grounds that the instructions and verdict slip were confusing and 

unsupported by applicable law. 

3. Parrotta's actions constitute invited error. 

Despite Parrotta's effort to equivocate on the reasons for not objecting to the jury 

instruction they themselves presented to the Circuit Court, the inescapable fact is that 
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Parrotta cannot both ask the Circuit Court to give a jury instruction, and then when they 

do not like the outcome, rely upon the jury instruction as the basis for requesting a new 

trial. Parrotta's efforts in this regard are analogous to Lease v. Brown, 196 W.Va. 485, 

473 S.E. 2d 906 (W.Va. 1996). In Lease, the issue on appeal was whether the Circuit 

Court erred in instructing the jury that the plaintiff had to prove forgery by a 

preponderance of the evidence. Defendant contended that West Virginia law was clear 

that forgery must be proven by clear and convincing evidence, not preponderance of 

evidence. Id. at 908. However, in that case, defendant submitted the verdict form that 

included the preponderance of the evidence language, and should have known that it 

presented a problem based on the standard of proof. Id. The court found that the 

defendant who submitted the instruction had either waived the error or it was deemed

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