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

and find error in the language of instructions given to the jury. 

Hilling suggests that, at most, the instruction was harmless error and finds fault with the 

trial court for not specifying the error in the instruction. This assertion is decidedly hollow. In its 

Order, the trial court highlighted the language from the instructions that it found inconsistent. 

Appx. 9-12. In particular, it noted that, in its initial summary of the claims, the trial court 

specifically instructed the jury that nuisance was the "unreasonable use of one's own property that 

has caused damage to a neighbor's property." Appx. 10. The trial court noted that this instruction 

specifically limited the nuisance claim to a property owner. Appx. 12. Whereas, the use of the 

word, "anything" in other portions of the instruction contradicted that notion. ld. As noted above, 

by his own argument and the offer of new cases to clarify the law of nuisance, Hilling only further 

illustrates the correctness of the trial court Order. 

Hilling also mistakenly cites to Foster v. Sakhai, 210 W. Va. 716, 559 S.E.2d 53 (2001) as 

purported support for his harmless error argument. In Foster, the use of "may" versus "must" in 

the one instance of the evidentiary standard instruction was determined by this Court to be 

hannless. ld. at Nevertheless, Foster borrowed from another case the concept that error must be 

considered harmless where, as here, the reviewing court is left with "grave doubt about the likely 

effect of an error on the jury's verdict." FOSler, at 728, 559 S.E.2d at 65, quoting, Skaggs v. Elk 

Run Coal Co., 198 W. Va. 51, 70-71, 479 S.E.2d 561, 580-81 (1996), quoting, O'Neal v. 
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McAninch, 513 U.S. 432, 435, 115 S. Ct. 992, 994 (1995). The trial court in the instant situation 

went through the entire charge and determined that the combined references to nuisance contained 

"profound contradictions," were "misleading" and "had more than a reasonable potential to 

mislead the jury, and did not adequately inform the jury on the law." Appx. 12-13 n.8. The trial 

further found that it could not "reconcile" the instructions as given, they "could not be relied upon 

to guide the jury as the correct legal principles" and therefore it could not consider the error 

harmless. Appx. 12-13. As such, the trial com1's findings in the instant case were certainly the 

type of "grave doubt" referenced in Foster, Skaggs and O'Neal. 

This case is much more akin to General Pipeline and Asbestos Lilig. In General Pipeline, 

this COUl1 determined that the grave protection statute did not afford a private cause of action for 

violation of its terms and, therefore, the trial court's instructions pemlitting the jury to find the 

defendants negligent for violating the duties outlined in the statute was an incorrect statement of 

the law. General Pipeline, 234 W. Va. at 283, 765 S.E.2d at 172. Reversing the judgment and 

granting a new trial because of plain error, this Court applied the same reasoning as the trial court 

in the instant case. Id. ("[T]he circuit court erroneously (and extensively) instructed the jury it 

could impose liability upon the defendants for those violations. The circuit court's instruction was 

misleading, misstated the law, and clearly mislead the jury as to the correct legal principles to 

guide its decision. The instruction is presumed to be prejudicial and, despite the evidence favorable 

to the plaintiffs, we simply cannot say the error was hannless. Accordingly, we find a new trial is 

warranted."). 

In Asbestos Lifig., this Court upheld the trial court's order vacating the jury verdict and 

granting a new trial where the jury awarded no damages to the plaintiffs for removal and/or 

management of asbestos in their public buildings. Asbestos Lifig., 193 W. Va. at 130,454 S.E.2d 
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at 424. The trial court had detennined that there was substantial evidence that the defendants' 

products were in the public buildings at issue and an abundance of evidence on the cost of 

maintenance, removal and/or repair relating to the products. Jd., at 126-27,454 S.E.2d at 420-21. 

Determining that the verdict must be vacated and a new trial granted, the trial judge concluded that 

"it appears to the Court that either the jury was not clearly instructed by the Court, or that the jury 

totally mis-comprehended the evidence." ld. 127,454 S.E.2d at 421. After discussing the wide 

latitude afforded trial courts to grant new trials on the basis of insufficient evidence or deficient 

jury instructions, this Court agreed with the trial COUl1's determination. Jd at 130,454 S.E.2d at 

424. 

The trial court's decision in this case was based on the same reasoning employed by this 

Court in General Pipeline and Asbestos Litig. The trial court concluded that the charge gave 

conflicting instructions to the jury as to who could be held liable for nuisance. Hilling apparently 

agrees that the summary of the nuisance claim given by the trial court at the beginning of its charge 

was in error. Hilling also appears to agree that the remainder ofthe instructions were not sufficient 

and that a different instruction, such as that cited from West, could have been given to clarify 

Hilling's position on the law of nuisance (even though Hilling never asked for the same and 

approved the submitted jury instructions). Yet, in the face of the trial court's acknowledgement 

of error and the need for clearer instruction on this point and without citation to a single case 

supporting its argument, Hilling inexplicably suggests that the "jury clearly understand" the law 

in this regard. Simply put, the trial court applied the correct standard in finding that there was 

"more than a reasonable potential to mislead the jury" on this point. And,just as in Asbestos Lifig., 

the trial court was correct to conclude that the jury was not "clearly instructed." 
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Likewise, Hilling does not address the authority of the trial court under Rule 51 of the West 

Virginia Rules of Ci vii Procedure to, sua 5ponte, notice error in the giving ofjury instructions and 

fashion appropriate relief to avoid a miscarriage of justice. So, Hilling uses the wrong paradigm 

for appellate review. Further, by ignoring the trial court's role in finding the error and correcting 

the same, Hilling misses the point entirely. The relevant question is not whether Parrotta proposed 

an instruction that was in error. Parrotta has consistently maintained that the instruction it proposed 

was correct and that, had the jury followed that instruction, Parrotta (as a non-owner ofthe property 

in question) could not be held liable for nuisance in this case.3 The relevant question is whether 

the trial court had the authority to identify the plain error in the charge as a whole and take the 

corrective action of ordering the parties to fully brief the issue of an appropriate nuisance 

instruction followed by a retrial on all claims asserted by Hilling. The answer to that question is a 

resounding "Yes." 

The trial court was entirely within its discretion to review the instructions to the jury as a 

whole, identify what it believed were inherent contradictions in the same, and then act to correct 

the error. Hilling chastises the trial court for not finding "prejudice" but does not actually speak 

to the trial court's specific findings in this regard. The trial court found that the evidence adduced 

at trial clearly established that Parrotta was not a property owner, which was the foundation of 

Parrotta's Rule 59 motion on the issue. Appx. 12. Hilling ignores the actual findings by the trial 

court in this regard. The trial court concluded that the "jury's choice of definition is pivotal to its 

If Hilling is correct as to private nuisance law in West Virginia, it admittedly did not offer an 
instruction to that effect. And, the parties clearly argued diametrically opposed views of the law of private 
nuisance during the post-trial motions. So, it is hard to fathom Hilling's objection to the trial court's ruling 
that the issue of the nuisance instruction needs to be further briefed and clarified. The only conceivable 
rationale for Hilling's opposition is that it profited froll1 the confusing instructions on this point. 
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assignment of liability to one, any, or all of the Defendants, particularly in light of the evidence 

presented in this matter." Appx. 12. The trial court concluded the point by observing that, 

Furthermore, based upon the evidence presented at trial in this case, this Court finds 
that the issue of nuisance is so intertwined with the remaining issues of negligence 
and breach of the easement agreement that a retrial ofall issues in this matter, rather 
than just the issue of nuisance, is necessary to prevent injustice to the parties. 

Appx. 14. The trial court then elaborated on the point in a very detailed manner. 

If, as Parrotta suggests, it cannot be held liable for nuisance under its definition of 
the law, it follows that the jury's verdict assigning liability to Parrotta for nuisance 
would be in error. Inasmuch as the jury assigned percentages of fault for nuisance 
not only to Parrotta, but to Midtown, Buzzo, and Darwin 10hnson, it would also 
follow that the assessment ofliability against Midtown, Buzzo and Darwin 10hnson 
would be in error as well. Furthermore, due to the nature of the acts alleged to have 
been committed by all of the Defendants at trial, the question arises as to whether 
the allocations of fault assigned by the jury for negligence and breach of the 
easement agreement in its verdict against Parrotta and the remaining Defendants 
are in error as well. Given the Court's error with respect to the proper instruction 
of the law regarding nuisance, this Court cannot reasonably conclude that the 
liability assigned to the Defendants for nuisance, or for any ofthe remaining claims, 
is free of error or prejudice. 
At trial, the Parties presented extensive evidence, including photographs, videos, 
and a jury view of the site, to document the sheer size of the fill project undertaken 
by Midtown, Buzzo and Parrotta, the alleged unsightly and unsafe appearance of 
the hillside during the project and at the time of trial, the scope of the slide, the 
damages caused by the slide, and the condition of the road before, during and after 
the slide. The Plaintiffs arguments at trial in support ofnot only its nuisance claims 
but also its negligence and breach of easement claims all involved the alleged 
actions of Parrotta and/or Midtown in creating the conditions at the property that 
resulted in damages. Furthermore, on the verdict form for this case, the jury was 
asked to assess the damages in this case for damages to the access road lost business 
income from missed townhome sales attributable to nuisance, negligence, and 
breach of the easement from all or some of the Defendants. 
In other words, it is apparent to this Court from the evidence presented at trial that 
the issue of nuisance is not entirely distinct and separable from the other matters 
involved. The claims for nuisance, negligence, and breach of easement are 
necessarily inteliwined, and all claims must be retried together. Further, given the 
evidence presented at trial, it is not clear that a trial on a single issue such as 
nuisance, or even damages to the access road, as suggested by the Plaintiff, could 
not be pursued without confusion, inconvenience, or prejudice to the rights of any 
party. 
The decision to grant a new trial in this matter is not taken lightly by the Court. 
However, given the scope of the errors contained in the instructions delivered by 
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this Court to the jury, as well as the intertwined nature of the claims alleged against 
the Defendants, this Court finds that it has no choice but to grant a new trial on this 
matter on all issues. 

Appx. 14-16. Pursuant to Asbestos Litig., the trial court's findings are entitled to great deference, 

as it was in the best position to evaluate the evidence and the claims in this regard. 

Because the trial court correctly determined that the nuisance issue was so intertwined with 

the other aspects ofthe case, the trial court properly exercised its discretion under Rules 51 and 59 

to correct the error by granting a new trial on all issues. And, because the trial court found the 

error to be "plain" and "significant" and reached this result without Respondent Parrotta ever 

asserting error in the instructions, invited error analysis is inapplicable to this situation. 

3. 	 THERE WAS No "INVITED ERROR" ON THE PART OF 

RESPONDENT PAROTTA. 

In its appeal brief, Hilling seeks to divert attention from the fact that the trial court 

determined the jury was not properly instructed on the law of nuisance by misrepresenting the 

parties' respective positions vis-it-vis the jury instructions. Contrary to the story Hilling tells in 

the argument section of its brief, the instmctions were agreed upon by both sides and jointly 

submitted to the trial court per its instructions. Appx. 13 n. 9. The main instruction on nuisance 

was a hybrid of the instructions proposed by each side. There was no "invited error" on the pali 

of Respondent Parrotta in this respect. 

"Invited error" is a doctrine of appellate review. '''A litigant may not silently acquiesce to 

an alleged error, or actively contribute to such error, and then raise that error as a reason for reversal 

on appeal.' Syllabus Point 1, Maples v. West Virginia Dep't of Commerce, 197 W.Va. 318,475 

S.E.2d 410 (1996)." Syl. Pt. 2, Hopkins v. DC Chapman Ventures, Inc., 228 W.Va. 213, 719 

S.E.2d 381 (2011). Respondent Parrotta did not raise error in the instructions below. The trial 

23 




court exercised its discretion under Rule 51 and its inherent authority over instructing the jury in 

rendering the decision at issue. 

If anything, the doctrine operates in the opposite direction. Hilling participated in the 

framing of the instructions as much as any other party and profited from what the trial court 

determined was a confusing set of instructions. Hilling is the party now seeking to reverse the trial 

court's ruling concerning the adequacy of the instructions given on appeal. As pmt of that effort, 

Hilling is offering statements of the law of nuisance from West that the trial court correctly 

observed were never offered by Hilling during the fonnation of the jury charge. First, Hilling's 

citation to this "clarification" of nuisance law from West serves to support the trial court's 

conclusion that the instructions as given were misleading. And, second, Hilling's failure to 

propose an instruction based upon West and yet challenge the trial court's ruling as to the 

sufficiency of the instructions on appeal is the very definition of an "invited error." 

Hilling's citation to Lease v. Brown, 473 S.E.2d 906, 1996 W. Va. LEXIS 45 (W. Va. 

1996) is unavailing. The plaintiff alleged that property she held jointly with defendant had, 

through forgery or fraud, been wrongly conveyed by defendant. ld. at 907. The jury returned a 

general verdict, finding the conveyance was the result of forgery or fraud. Id., at 908-09. The 

defendant appealed, alleging that the trial court committed error in instructing the jury that the 

plaintiff had to prove forgery by preponderance of the evidence. Jd. This Court upheld the verdict, 

finding that a general verdict was appropriate unless the parties requested special findings as to 

each theory pled and it could not conclude that the jury found for the plaintiff on the forgery theory 

(the theory on which the erroneous instruction was given). Id. That is not the situation here. 

By order of the trial court, all parties collaborated and submitted agreed proposed 

instructions to the trial court. The jury charge, however, was compiled by the trial court. By 
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Hilling's own admission, it did not offer a t1..l1ther instruction clarifying the nuisance instructions, 

such as the quote from West cited in its Brief. It was the trial court that determined the instructions 

were in error and "could not be relied upon to guide the jury as to the correct legal principles to 

guide its decision." Appx. 13. There was no "invited error" on the part of Respondent Parrotta. 

Additionally, Hilling does not address the trial court's discretion in either the fashioning 

of instructions or the decision to grant a new trial based upon an error in the giving of those 

instructions identified by the trial court sua sponte. In this respect, Hilling does not address the 

intersection of "invited error" and the authority conferred upon the trial court by Rule 51 of the 

West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. Because Rule 51 provides that the trial court "may, in 

the interests ofjustice, notice plain error in the giving or refusal to give an instruction, whether or 

not it has been made the subject of objection." W. VA. R. Clv. P. 51. This Rule afforded the trial 

court with the necessary discretion to ignore the issue of "invited error" where, as here, it noticed 

what it determined was "plain" and "significant" error in the jury charge on nuisance. 

The simple fact is that the trial court was within its discretion to determine that the 

instructions given and special interrogatories issued as to nuisance were internally inconsistent.

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